RECEIVED

09-29-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II Appeal No. 2014AP1430- CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANTWAN D. HOPSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON REVIEW OF JUDGEMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED JUNE 14, 2013, HON. TERENCE T. BOURKE, PRESIDING.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Angela D. Henderson State Bar No. 1053317

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

Law Office of Angela Dawn Henderson 2080 W. Ninth Avenue, #305 Oshkosh, WI 54904 (920) 966-3421

ISSUE PRESENTED

Mr. Hopson filed a motion to suppress cocaine evidence based on a fourth amendment violation because police conducted a search of his person when he was detained but not under arrest. Should the evidence have been suppressed?

The trial Court answered: No. The trial court declined to suppress, ruling that it was an appropriate *Terry* frisk, although an officer searched inside his pockets and attempted to reach inside his sock.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Hopson would welcome oral argument if the Court believes it would be beneficial, but he is not requesting it, because the arguments of both sides can be presented sufficiently through written briefs.

This matter requires application of established legal principles to undisputed facts; therefore, publication is not requested.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether facts fulfill a particular legal standard is a question of law. *See*, e.g., <u>Nottelson v. ILHR Department</u>, 94 Wis.2d 106 (1980), 287 N.W.2d 763. In this case, the Court is called upon to determine whether the facts of the search of Mr. Hopson amount to a 4th amendment violation and should therefore have been suppressed – a question of law.

Legal questions are the province of the appellate courts and are subject to *de novo* review. <u>Gilbert v. Medical</u> <u>Examining Bd.</u>, 119 Wis. 2d. 168, 194, 349 N.W.2d 68, 79-80 (1984).

PROCEDURAL POSTURE AND FACTS

On April 8, 2011, in Sheboygan County Case No. 11-CF-163, Mr. Hopson was charged in a criminal complaint with Count 1, Possession of Cocaine (2nd and Subsequent), Repeater; Count 2, Resisting an Officer, Repeater; Count 3, Felony Bail Jumping, Repeater; Count 4, Misdemeanor Bail Jumping, Repeater; and Count 5, Misdemeanor Bail Jumping. (R. 1, App. 1.)

In support of the charges, the complaint included a narrative section in which it was alleged that on April 7, 2011, Mr. Hopson was a passenger in a vehicle that was the subject of a traffic stop in Sheboygan. (R. 1, pp. 3-4, App. 1, pp. 3-4.) During the stop, an K-9 unit was called and advised that the dog had indicated on the vehicle. R. 1, p. 4, App. 1, p. 4.) Officers searched the vehicle and observed marijuana shake located on the passenger side of the floor, as well as the pocket behind the passenger seat. <u>Id</u>.

After the search of the vehicle, Mr. Hopson's person was searched. (Tr. 12/2/11, p. 29., App. 4, p. 4) Officer Trisha Saeger searched Mr. Hopson's pockets and stuck her finger into his sock (Tr. 12/2/11, pp. 29-30., App. 4, pp. 4-5.) Officer Saeger agreed that this was a search. (Tr. 12/2/11, p. 30., App. 4, p. 5.) When asked directly and clearly whether Mr. Hopson was "under arrest" at the time of the search, Officer Saeger did not answer that he was under arrest. She answered evasively, "There's probable cause to arrest [him] for the drugs in the vehicle. [He was] not free to go." <u>Id</u>.

During the search, Mr. Hopson ran away from officers. (R. 1, p. 4, App. 1, p. 4.) Officer Yang observed him in a fenced off area behind 1212 Clair Avenue, Sheboygan, crouched down, and the K-9 unit was brought to that area and officers observed a plastic baggie containing alleged cocaine. <u>Id</u>.

Mr. Hopson was charged with the offenses listed in the complaint, on April 8, 2011. On July 28, 2011, Mr. Hopson's then-attorney, Patricia Adelman, filed a Motion to Suppress Fruits of Illegal Detention (and Frisk) and Illegal Arrest. (R. 33.) The title of this is misleading and does not reflect the argument made and ruled upon at the subsequent motion hearing where the argument and ruling focused on whether or not the search (not frisk) of Mr. Hopson was unlawful; this argument will be developed in the argument section.

A motion hearing was begun on November 9, 2011, and continued and concluded on December 2, 2011. The State argued that the motion should be denied, explaining that "They had probable cause to arrest him for obstructing an officer and for the marijuana that was found in the vehicle. For these reasons all of the officers' actions were appropriate, and we ask that the motion be denied." (Tr. 12/2/11, p. 37. App. 4, p. 6.)

The trial court ruled that the extension of the stop was not unreasonable, which is not now being disputed. The trial court also ruled that the amount of marijuana shake in the vehicle would not have provided probable cause, but when taken in conjunction with the K-9 officer indicating on the vehicle, did provide "reasonable suspicion of criminal activity which then gets into a *Terry* stop," for which the court ruled there was a basis. (Tr. 12/2/11, p. 42., App. 4, p. 7.) The court further reasoned that "Given the totality of the circumstances, there is probable cause for the detention – or reasonable suspicion to justify the arrest." (Tr. 12/2/11, p. 43, App. 4, p. 8.) The court therefore denied the motion. <u>Id</u>.

On June 4 and June 5, 2013, a jury trial was held, in which Mr. Hopson was found guilty on counts 1 and 2 (possession of cocaine and resisting an officer); on June 14, 2013, as part of a plea agreement, he pled no contest to count 3 (felony bail jumping), and counts 4 and 5 (misdemeanor bail jumping) were dismissed but read in. (R. 175-179, App. 2.)

ARGUMENT

The search that police performed on Mr. Hopson was a violation of his 4^{th} amendment rights. It cannot be excused under *Terry* although there was reasonable suspicion for an investigative stop and frisk under *Terry* this was not a simple stop and frisk; as was conceded by the searching officer, it was a true search.

A. Mr. Hopson was not under arrest, so the search cannot be valid as a search incident to arrest.

Warrantless searches are per se unreasonable unless the State establishes that one of the few specific exceptions to the warrant requirement justifies the search. <u>State v. Pallone</u>, 2000 WI 77, ¶ 29, 236 Wis. 2d. 162, 613 N.W.2d 568. One established exception is for a search "incident to a lawful arrest." <u>Id</u>., ¶ 32. For this exception to apply, there must be an arrest in fact. <u>Id</u>., ¶ 32.

This court has held that when there was probable cause for arrest but there was not an actual arrest, there could be no search incident to arrest. State v. Marten-Hoye, 2008 WI App 19, 746 N.W.2d 498. In Marten-Hoye, the undisputed facts set forth that a police officer approached Marten-Hoye outside at nighttime to ensure that she was not violating the curfew ordinance. After determining that she was not subject to the curfew based on her age, the officer told Marten-Hoye that she was free to leave. Marten-Hoye walked away and began shouting obscenities and waving her hands around, drawing the attention of ten to fifteen people. The officer reapproached Marten-Hoye and told her she was under arrest for disorderly conduct, placed her in handcuffs, and told her that she would receive a city ordinance violation and then be released if she continued to be cooperative. The officer then searched Marten-Hove and found contraband, for which she was ultimately convicted. On appeal, this Court held that the search was constitutionally impermissible. Id., ¶ 7. This Court reasoned that given the totality of the circumstances, a reasonable person in Marten-Hoye's position would not have believed he or she was "in custody." Id., ¶ 28. Those circumstances included the fact that Marten-Hoye was told that she would be issued a citation and then be free to go, that she was not placed in a squad car, and that the entire interaction was in public. Id., ¶ 27. Significantly, this did not amount to an arrest even though Marten-Hoye was in fact told she was under arrest and put in handcuffs.

Similarly, in Mr. Hopson's case, the totality of the circumstances would also not lead a reasonable person to believe that he or she was under arrest. Mr. Hopson was a passenger in a vehicle that was pulled over in a traffic stop. (Tr. 11/9/11, p. 6., App. 3, p. 1) The traffic stop was the result of a suspended license plate. Id., at 7. Mr. Hopson was asked to step out of the vehicle, and he and the driver were brought to the curb. Id., at 15. Officers Saeger and Schnabel then searched the vehicle and found marijuana shake, which is small pieces of marijuana flakes. Id., at 17-18. Officer Yang did a pat-down of Mr. Hopson on the sidewalk and found nothing but a toothbrush. (Tr. 12/2/11, p. 6., App. 4, p. 1) After the pat-down, Officer Yang stayed with Mr. Hopson on the sidewalk while Officer Schnabel did some paperwork relating to a citation for the driver, then Officer Saeger arrived with a K-9 and began walking it around the car. Id., at 6-7. Officer Yang and Mr. Hopson were first standing on the sidewalk and then Mr. Hopson asked if they could side down, and he sat down on a ledge. Id., at 12. He was not in handcuffs and had not been told he was under arrest.

Officer Yang distinguished between a search and a pat down; he stated, "So I was patting [Mr. Hopson] down for weapon [sic]. I did not search [him]." As Officer Yang and Mr. Hopson were waiting on the sidewalk, the vehicle was being searched; the marijuana shake was found, and Officer Saeger approached Mr. Hopson "to search [him]." <u>Id</u>. at 29.

Given the totality of the circumstances, a reasonable person in Mr. Hopson's position would not have believed he was under arrest. He was not in hand cuffs, he had not been told he was under arrest; he was simply standing or sitting around on a sidewalk waiting for the car to be searched. Nothing intervened between that circumstance and the search. Significantly, Officer Saeger herself, when given the opportunity to testify that Mr. Hopson was under arrest, did not say that. Instead, to the question, "Was [Mr. Hopson] under arrest?" Officer Saeger responded, "There's probable cause to arrest [him] for the drugs in the vehicle. [He was] not free to go." (Tr. 12/2/11, p. 30., App. 4, p. 5.) In other words, he was not under arrest.

Since he was not under arrest, just as the defendant in <u>Marten-Hoye</u>, there cannot be a search incident to arrest. Just

as in <u>Marten-Hoye</u>, there may have arguably been probable cause to arrest, but without an arrest in fact, the probable cause to arrest does not give officers the authority to do a full search.

B. The search went beyond what is allowable as a *Terry* search; therefore it cannot be upheld as an allowable stop and frisk.

The trial court at Mr. Hopson's suppression motion hearing ruled that the search was lawful as a *Terry* search. (Tr. 12/2/14, p. 42.) However, as previously discussed, Officer Saeger agreed that Mr. Hopson was "searched," and that she had looked in his pockets and stuck his finger in his sock. <u>Id</u>., at 29-30. This is inarguably beyond the scope of a *Terry* stop or search. Because this search was unlawful, all derivative evidence must be suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree under <u>Wong Sun v. United States</u>, 371 U.S. 471 (1963).

The cocaine seized in this case was confiscated after Mr. Hopson ran from the unlawful search and was later apprehended in a field, where the baggie of cocaine was found nearby. (R. 1, p. 3, App. 1, p.3.) Had the officer not performed an unlawful search, the evidence would not have been discovered or attributed to Mr. Hopson. Thus, the evidence is inadmissible under <u>Wong Sun</u>.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Hopson was searched illegally when Officer Saeger searched his pockets and socks without a warrant and when Mr. Hopson was not under arrest. As a result of this illegal search, Mr. Hopson ran away from the scene and was apprehended near a baggie of cocaine. Had the officer not performed an illegal search, the evidence would not have been discovered. It should therefore have been suppressed and not used at trial. Mr. Hopson therefore asks this Court to reverse the conviction and order a new trial in which the evidence would be excluded. If the government is able to obtain convictions by breaking the law, contempt for the law is bred. The goal of convicting criminals cannot be seen to commend the commission of crimes by the government in that pursuit.