RECEIVED

12-02-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2014AP1430-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANTWAN D. HOPSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE SHEBOYGAN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TERENCE T. BOURKE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

TIFFANY M. WINTER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1065853

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 264-9487 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) wintertm@doj.state.wi.us

ARGUMENT

THE SEARCH OF HOPSON'S PERSON WAS A LAWFUL SEARCH INCIDENT TO ARREST, AND THEREFORE, THE COURT PROPERLY DENIED HOPSON'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

Hopson argues that the circuit court erred in denying his motion to suppress evidence discarded during his flight from officers. Hopson alleges that the baggie of cocaine that he discarded during his flight should be suppressed because it was a product of an illegal search (see generally Hopson's Br.). Upon review, this Court should conclude that the search of Hopson was a lawful search incident to arrest,² and that during that search Hopson fled and abandoned the baggie of cocaine. Therefore, this Court should conclude that the circuit court reached the right result in denying Hopson's motion to suppress.

A. The standard of review.

In review of a denial of a motion to suppress, findings of historical fact are upheld unless found to be clearly erroneous. Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2); *State v. Sykes*, 2005 WI 48, ¶ 12, 279 Wis. 2d 742, 695 N.W.2d 277 (citing *State v. Vorburger*, 2002 WI 105, ¶ 32, 255

¹ All citations to Wisconsin Statutes are to the 2011-12 version unless otherwise noted.

² This Court has the authority to affirm the denial of Hopson's motion to suppress on other grounds. *See State v. Earl*, 2009 WI App 99, ¶ 18 n.8, 320 Wis. 2d 639, 770 N.W.2d 755 ("On appeal, we may affirm on different grounds than those relied on by the trial court.").

Wis. 2d 537, 648 N.W.2d 829). The application of constitutional principles to those facts is reviewed *de novo*. *Id*.

B. Officer Saeger had probable cause to arrest Hopson at the time of the search, and therefore, the search was a lawful search incident to arrest.

Hopson argues that the search of his person was not a search incident to arrest because he would not have believed that he was under arrest at the time of the search, and therefore, was not under arrest at that time (*see* Hopson's brief at 5-6). Whether Hopson was actually under arrest at the time of the search is the wrong inquiry. When the fruits of the search are not necessary to support the arrest, a search incident to arrest may precede formal arrest. *Sykes*, 279 Wis. 2d 742, ¶ 16. Because a search incident to arrest may be performed immediately prior to a formal arrest, it does not matter if the suspect was, or believed that he was, under arrest at the time of the search. The correct inquiry is whether Officer Saeger had probable cause to arrest Hopson for a crime before the search occurred.

Probable cause exists "when the totality of the circumstances within the arresting officer's knowledge would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably committed a crime." *State v. Kutz*, 2003 WI App 205, ¶ 11, 267 Wis. 2d 531, 671 N.W.2d 660; *Dane County v. Sharpee*, 154 Wis. 2d 515, 518, 453 N.W.2d 508 (Ct. App. 1990). The probable cause standard is an "objective" standard, independent of an officer's subjective assessment. *Kutz*, 267 Wis. 2d 531, ¶ 12.

Probable cause refers to the quantum of evidence which would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that defendant committed a crime. There must be more than a possibility or suspicion that defendant committed an offense, but the evidence need not reach the level of proof beyond a reasonable doubt or even that guilt is more likely than not.

State v. Mitchell, 167 Wis. 2d 672, 681-82, 482 N.W.2d 364 (1992). Probable cause to arrest "is to be judged by the factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent persons, not legal technicians, act." State v. Truax, 151 Wis. 2d 354, 360, 444 N.W.2d 432 (Ct. App. 1989). Like reasonable suspicion, "[w]hen a police officer is confronted with two reasonable competing inferences . . . the officer is entitled to rely on the reasonable inference justifying arrest." Id.

Here, the totality of the circumstances supports a finding of probable cause to arrest. Hopson was the passenger of a vehicle that Officer Schnabel stopped because the vehicle had suspended plates (1:3-4; 215:5). The stop occurred in a known drug trafficking area (215:21). When Officer Schnabel spoke with the driver of the vehicle, the driver presented him with an expired license (215:7). After Officer Schnabel identified Hopson, the officer returned to the squad car and learned that the driver had a suspended license, and that Hopson had a warrant for his arrest in South Carolina (1:4; 215:8-11). The warrant for Hopson's arrest was for possession with intent to deliver marijuana (215:11). It contained a warning that Hopson was known for "violent tendencies" (215:11).

After Officer Schnabel learned this information, he asked Officer Yang and Officer Saeger to assist with the stop (1:4; 215:11). Officer Schnabel was preparing a citation for the driver when Officer Saeger arrived with the K-9 and when Officer Yang arrived (215:12-13). Officer Schnabel asked the driver to exit the vehicle and Officer Yang asked Hopson to exit the vehicle (215:15; 216:10, 18-19). With Hopson's consent, Officer Yang patted-down Hopson for weapons but found none (216:6, 11-12).

The K-9, Bud, did a sniff of the exterior of the vehicle (216:19). He indicated, meaning there was an odor of a controlled substance coming from the vehicle (216:19). Bud then did an interior sniff, and indicated at the center console area (216:19). Officer Saeger then found marijuana "shake" in the ashtray, on the floor of the front passenger area, and behind the front passenger seat (216:20). Hopson had occupied the front passenger seat before Officer Yang asked him to exit the vehicle (216:20). Once the search of the vehicle was completed, Officer Saeger began to search Hopson "like a routine search incident to arrest," but she could not complete the search because Hopson fled on foot (216:20-21).

Officer Saeger had probable cause to believe that Hopson had possessed tetrahydrocannabinol before she searched his person, and therefore, the search was a lawful search incident to arrest. First, while the amount of marijuana found in the vehicle was minimal, Wisconsin courts have never held that a particular amount of tetrahydrocannabinol was required to establish probable cause for possession. For example, "[i]n this state, no minimum quantity of a controlled substance is necessary to sustain a conviction for possession." See State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 508, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990) (citing *Peasley v. State*, 83 Wis. 2d 224, 231, 265 N.W.2d 506 (1978)). Because proof beyond a reasonable doubt can be supported by residue of a controlled substance, the same must hold true for probable cause to arrest. Similarly, an arrest for suspicion of possession of a controlled substance can be supported by odor alone. See State v. Secrist, 224 Wis. 2d 201, 216-18, 589 N.W.2d 387 (1999). The Secrist court concluded that it is "common sense" that "when an officer smells the odor of a controlled substance that a crime has probably been committed." Id. at 218. Likewise, when an officer finds physical evidence of a controlled substance, no matter

³ Marijuana "shake" is small, discarded pieces of marijuana (215:18; 216:42).

how minimal, it is common sense that a crime has probably been committed.

In addition to the physical evidence discovered in the vehicle, Hopson was stopped in an area known for drug trafficking. The officers also knew that Hopson had an outstanding warrant in South Carolina for possession with intent to deliver marijuana (215:11). Therefore, there was reason to believe that the marijuana shake found in the vehicle, in the immediate area of the seat in which Hopson was previously sitting, was connected specifically to Hopson. Under the totality of the circumstances, a reasonable officer would believe that Hopson probably committed a crime.

As Officer Saeger stated at the suppression hearing: "There's probable cause to arrest [Hopson] for drugs in the vehicle. [He was] not free to go." (216:30). Because there was probable cause to arrest Hopson, it was lawful for Officer Saeger to perform a search prior to Hopson's formal arrest. Sykes, 279 Wis. 2d 742, ¶ 26 (citing State v. Mata, 230 Wis. 2d 567, 574, 602 N.W.2d 158 (Ct. App. 1999); State v. Kiekhefer, 212 Wis. 2d 460, 484, 569 N.W.2d 316 (Ct. App. 1997); Rawlings v. Kentucky, 448 U.S. 98, 111 (1980); United States v. Robinson, 414 U.S. 218, 235 (1973)).

C. Hopson abandoned the baggie of cocaine during his flight, and therefore, the seizure of the cocaine was lawful.

Suppression of the cocaine is not warranted because Hopson abandoned the cocaine as he fled from the officers. If a search incident to arrest is not completed and a suspect flees, discarding evidence during that flight, the evidence is deemed abandoned and beyond the

⁴ The arrest for a different crime following the recovery of evidence discarded as a result of a search incident to arrest will not negate the probable cause to arrest that existed prior to the search. *See Sykes*, 279 Wis. 2d 742, ¶ 22.

protections of the Fourth Amendment. See, e.g., 1 Wayne R. LaFave, Search and Seizure, § 2.6(b) at 872, 875 (5th ed. 2012) (If incriminating objects are discarded during pursuit by an officer, the object is held to be abandoned, and the object is beyond the protections of the Fourth Amendment.).

Here, the lawful search of Hopson began on the sidewalk (216:20). Before Officer Saeger could complete the search, and right as Officer Saeger was about to search Hopson's shoes, Hopson fled on foot (216:21-22; 29-30). Both Officer Saeger and Officer Yang took off in pursuit (216:21). When Officer Yang caught up to Hopson, Hopson was crouched near the ground and had removed both of his shoes (216:8-9). After the officers apprehended Hopson, Officer Saeger returned to her squad car to retrieve Bud to search the area for drug evidence (216:22). When she returned with Bud, Officer Saeger found a clear plastic baggie containing a white substance that was determined to be cocaine (216:22, 33).

When individual tries to dispose an incriminating objects during pursuit by an officer, the suspect has abandoned the object. LaFave, Search and Seizure, § 2.6(b) at 875. Hopson abandoned the baggie of cocaine and the officers could lawfully recover it. See, e.g., Molina v. State, 53 Wis. 2d 662, 669, 193 N.W.2d 874 (1972) (There is no search or seizure when officers recover abandoned evidence because when evidence is disposed of during flight, there is an "affirmative act of divesting control, possession, and ownership."). As addressed above, there was no illegal police activity that precipitated Hopson's flight, and therefore, the officers could lawfully seize the baggie abandoned by Hopson as he fled.⁵

⁵ It is only when "a person has disposed of property in response to an illegal seizure or search by police" that courts have held the abandoned property inadmissible. LaFave, *Search and Seizure*, § 2.6(b) at 888-89.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the State respectfully asks this Court to affirm the judgment of conviction and order denying suppression.